1951

# Will J. McGowan v. The Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Basing his complaint upon the Safety Appliance Act (45 U. S. C. A., Section 2 et seq.) respondent brought this action to recover damages for personal injuries alleged to have been sustained as a result of the use by the appellant in interstate commerce of a car "not equipped with coupler mechanism which would couple automatically on impact"

(R. 1-4). The jury returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiff in the amount of \$13,000.00 (R. 25-A). The court granted a new trial conditioned upon the plaintiff's refusal to remit \$6000.00 from the judgment. He accepted the reduced amount and a new trial was denied (R. 28).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff, a brakeman, was injured while the crew of which he was a member was switching cars in the defendant's railroad yard at Cameo, Colorado (R. 35). The movement in the course of which the plaintiff was injured involved the coupling of a Grand Trunk Western Railroad car and a Rio Grande car, No. 70523 (R. 36). The Grand Trunk Western car was a boxcar and was stationary. The Rio Grande car was a coal car and was attached directly to the engine (R. 36). Plaintiff was directing the coupling movement from a position on the ground about eight feet away from the end of the boxcar (R. 38-9). As the coal car reached a point opposite him he inserted his foot between the cars and against the drawbar of the coal car (R. 40). When the coupling devices of the two cars came in contact plaintiff's foot was between them, and he suffered the loss of part of the big toe of his right foot (R. 41-5). The cars coupled upon impact notwithstanding the presence of portions of plaintiff's foot was inside the knuckles (R. 41).

Plaintiff testified that the coal car was moving at a speed of about four miles an hour when it reached a point about eight feet from the boxcar and that he then noticed that the drawbar appeared to be "out of line" (R. 40). He

says he pushed on the drawbar three times but he was unable to determine the extent of movement of the drawbar, if any, accomplished by his pushing on it with his foot (R. 65-6). He was, however, still pushing on the drawbar when the cars came together (R. 68).

The cars were about eight feet apart when the plaintiff made the first push on the drawbar with his foot (R. 64).

He testified that while the coal car was moving this distance at a rate of speed of about four miles an hour, he not only pushed on the drawbar three times with his foot but found time to step out from between the cars in the interval between the first and second push and signal the engineer to stop (R. 67). He says that this signal was given when the cars were about four feet apart and that the engineer ignored the signal (R. 67).

The engineer testified for the defendant that he observed the plaintiff standing near the point where the coupling was later made and that when the two cars were about one foot apart the plaintiff went between the cars (R. 95-7). He recognized the plaintiff's danger and immediately attempted to stop the train but was unable to do so (R. 95-7). He observed the plaintiff during the entire course of the movement and testified positively that at no time did the plaintiff give any stop signal (R. 97).

The coal car was barely moving at the time of impact and the coupling was made with only a minimum of jarring.

Mr. Kuykendall, the conductor, remained at the scene of the accident until the arrival of three safety inspectors, employees of the defendant (R. 101). These inspectors care-



fully examined the coupling devices of both cars and made several tests in which the cars on every occasion coupled automatically upon impact. McCoy, one of the inspectors, testified that there was no defect of any kind in any of the coupling mechanism of either car and that they functioned perfectly.

Mr. McCoy also testified that the coal car drawbar against which plaintiff had pushed was of modern type, built on a rocker mechanism so that it would automatically rock or gravitate to a centered position (R. 107). This rocker is called a swinging type carrier arm, and its purpose is to keep the drawbar centered within a minimum lateral play of not more than one inch each way (R. 107). The lateral movement could be increased to two inches each way by exerting extra pressure, so that the carrier arm would "ride up." This extra pressure was demonstrated by two men pushing against the drawbar. One man could not push the drawbar beyond the one inch free play allowed by the rocker. As soon as the extra pressure was released the drawbar would rock back within the centered area (R. 108).

The witness also testified that the rocker mechanism was in good mechanical condition, and that there were no defects which would prevent it from rocking back within the one inch play permitted by the special type rocker arm (R. 108, 109, 112, 113 and 115).

The defendant had prepared for the jury a portable mechanism upon which were mounted two drawbars and couplers of the exact type, measurement, and make of the couplers involved in the accident. These couplers were so constructed that they could be operated and pushed together in the presence of the jury (Ex. 5).

The witness Martin, who is the General Car Foreman of the Grand Junction Division, testified that he supervised the construction of the exhibit and that it was in all respects identical to the equipment involved (R. 115-120). After qualifying as an expert witness he explained to the jury why the drawbars must be engineered so that they can move laterally. This movement is necessary so that the cars can negotiate curves and accommodate the swaying motion incident to ordinary travel along the tracks (R. 121). If at least a two-inch movement each way is not allowed, a car as long as the coal car (fifty feet and two inches) will derail on curves. For this reason the coal car was equipped with a drawbar which would, under extra pressure, move two inches each way, and when the pressure was released, gravitate back to a centered position (R. 121-122).

Mr. Martin further testified that he had never seen any railroad car on the D. & R. G. system, or on the system of any other railroad, that had a mechanism on the side of the car from which an operator could center a drawbar, and that on occasions men go between the cars for the purpose of making a preliminary alignment of a drawbar. He stated, however, that this preliminary action takes place *when the cars are stopped* (R. 124-125-126).

The only injury sustained by the plaintiff was the crushing of the big toe, necessitating amputation at the first joint (R. 45). He was off work from April 16th to the latter part of September. He resumed his regular employment as a brakeman in September and was so employed at the time of the trial (R. 47).

## STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED ON

## I.

THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT THE COUPLERS DID NOT MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE STATUTE.

## II.

THE COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY AS SET FORTH IN INSTRUCTIONS NOS. 3 AND 4.

## III.

THE COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY AS SET FORTH IN INSTRUCTIONS NOS. 5 AND 7.

## IV.

THE COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN EXCLUDING THE PROFFERED EVIDENCE OF THE DEFENDANT THAT THE PLAINTIFF VIOLATED THE SAFETY AND OPERATION RULES OF THE COMPANY AND THAT ON THE DAY BEFORE PLAINTIFF'S INJURY, PLAINTIFF HAD VIOLATED SAID RULES AND HAD BEEN SPECIFICALLY WARNED TO DESIST FROM SUCH PRACTICE.

## ARGUMENT

## I.

THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT THE COUPLERS DID NOT MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE STATUTE.

The controlling provision of the Safety Appliance Act reads as follows :

“It shall be unlawful for any common carrier engaged in interstate commerce by railroad to haul or permit to be hauled or used on its line any car used in moving interstate traffic not equipped with couplers coupling automatically on impact and which can be uncoupled without the necessity of men going between the ends of the cars.”

We do not contend that the trial court erred in refusing to grant the defendant's motion for a directed verdict because of the absence of any evidence of a mechanical defect in the coupling devices or because of a failure of proof of negligence on the part of the defendant in maintaining the couplers in a state of good repair. What we do contend is that there is no evidence which tends to prove that the cars in question were not equipped with couplers that would couple automatically on impact or that there was any insufficiency in the coupling equipment that made it necessary for the plaintiff to go between the cars to effect the coupling on the occasion in which he was injured.

To effect a coupling of two railroad cars by any devices so far invented, it is necessary that the drawbars

of the couplers be in alignment sufficient to allow the jaws or knuckles of the couplers to mesh. The coupled cars cannot be operated in any ordinary railroad movement if the drawbars are rigidly fastened to the cars. There must be some lateral play in the drawbars or the cars will derail upon reaching a curve in the railroad tracks. The amount of lateral play required to prevent derailment of the car depends upon the size and length of the car. No court, so far as we know, has ever intimated that a drawbar having only a reasonably required lateral play does not meet the full requirements of the statute.

There is no evidence whatsoever to the effect that the drawbar on either of the cars involved in the coupling movement had any more lateral play than was necessary to successfully operate the cars.

As to the amount of lateral play in the drawbar of the standing box car the only testimony was that this type of car had a maximum lateral play of  $2\frac{1}{2}$  inches. However, the plaintiff testified that he observed the drawbar on this car and that it was in a centered position. This testimony was not disputed. The plaintiff in his complaint makes no claim that the drawbar on this car was out of alignment. In any event the coupling was made without anything being done to this drawbar in the way of aligning.

With respect to the lateral play in the drawbar of the moving coal car, the undisputed testimony was that in order to operate the car on the defendant's tracks, the drawbar had to have a lateral play of two inches on each side. The evidence is further undisputed that this drawbar

had a lateral play of only two inches on each side. Mr. Martin measured the lateral play and testified without contradiction that it was not in excess of the amount required to keep the car from derailing.

The evidence being uncontradicted that neither drawbar had any more lateral play than required to operate the cars successfully and that the drawbar on the standing car was in a centered position, there remains for consideration the position of the drawbar on the moving coal car.

Assuming solely for purpose of argument that a drawbar having a maximum lateral play of two inches on each side may, on some occasion, require alignment in order to effect a coupling and that the statute requires that such a car be equipped with a mechanism that will align the drawbar without the necessity of a man going between the cars to operate the mechanism, there is in this case no evidence of any failure on the part of the defendant to comply with the statute as so interpreted.

The only claim made by the plaintiff of any defect or insufficiency in the coupling mechanism of the two cars was that the Rio Grande car's drawbar was out of alignment and had no device whereby it could be aligned except by pushing on the drawbar with the hands or feet. Therefore the precise question to be determined is whether there is any evidence to sustain any such claimed defect or insufficiency.

It is undisputed that the drawbar on this car was equipped with a rocker or swinging carrier arm device. This rocker device was designed to automatically rock or

gravitate the drawbar to a centered position. It was made to perform that function without the necessity of any manual operation or manipulation. By the exertion of a great deal of pressure it was possible to push the drawbar off center a maximum of two inches each way. The moment this lateral pressure was released, the drawbar would be swung back by the rocker to a centered position. It is possible that the drawbar could have a lateral play of as much as one inch after the pressure was released but there is nothing to indicate that a drawbar having only that much lateral play would move off center sufficient to prevent the knuckles from meshing upon impact.

There is no evidence that the rocker device failed to perform the function for which it was designed.

We are aware that plaintiff testified that he observed that the drawbar on the moving car was "out of line". However, he made this observation while the car was moving about four miles per hour and when the front of the drawbar had reached a point eight feet from the point of coupling. He says that he pushed on the drawbar with his foot three times. He was unable to state how much, if any, he succeeded in moving the drawbar. It is extremely significant that he was still pushing on the drawbar at the very moment the coupling occurred.

We submit that this testimony is wholly insufficient to prove any defect or insufficiency in the rocker device or that it failed in any respect in its function of automatically aligning the drawbar to a position where the cars would couple upon impact. The plaintiff's testimony that the drawbar was out of line to the extent that the two cars would

not couple upon impact was a mere opinion, which the subsequent event demonstrated was in error. He could not say to what extent, if any, his pushing on the drawbar caused it to move one way or another. His testimony is entirely speculation. He speculated that the drawbar was out of alignment at the very instant that the coupling occurred because he was then still pushing it with his foot. He was most certainly wrong at that instant. He was also wrong the first time he pushed.

In the case of *Kansas City M. & O. R. R. Co. v. Wood*, 262 S. W. 520, the very same kind of evidence was offered to show that a drawbar was out of alignment and was rejected as mere speculation in view of the fact that the cars actually coupled just as they did in the case at bar. The appellate court of Texas said:

“There is no proof other than this of any defects whatever in the couplers in question, mechanically or otherwise, and nothing to support plaintiff’s contention save his own observations and opinion as to what would have happened had he not gone between the cars. This, we think, is leaving the domain of fact and invading the realm of fancy, and is too meager to sustain a recovery against appellant. The burden was upon the plaintiff to show some defect that would constitute a failure to comply with the Federal Safety Appliance Act. The fact that Wood went between the cars and was hurt imposes no burden upon appellant unless it was negligent or failed to comply with law. And, as said in *Ry. Co. v. Bonds* (Tex. Civ. App.), 244 S. W. 1102:

“‘It would be manifestly unfair to hold that the carrier had violated the statute until



the inefficiency of the device had been disclosed by some reasonable test that would justify the conclusion that it was defective.'

"See also, *Morris v. Ry. Co.* (Tex. Civ. App.), 158 S. W. 1055."

The decision of the Texas appellate court is unanswerable. The statute which we are considering requires the railroad to provide a certain type of equipment. The equipment specified is that which will accomplish a designated function and which can be manipulated without a man going between the cars. It would be manifestly unwarranted, to hold that a finding of insufficiency in the coupling equipment could be based upon a mere guess of an injured employee.

It is submitted that a failure to comply with Section 2 of the Safety Appliance Act can be established only by proof of some mechanical defect or by failure of the coupling mechanism to function upon a fair test. Such proof is certainly required in an action based upon the provisions of the Safety Appliance Act requiring the carrier to equip its cars with an efficient hand brake. To this effect see *King v. Denver & Rio Grande Western R. Co.*, ... Utah ..., 211 P. (2d) 833, from which we quote as follows:

"In the recent case of *Myers v. Reading Co.*, 331 U. S. 477, 67 S. Ct. 1334, 91 L. Ed. 1615, the U. S. Supreme Court announced the rule as to the methods of showing that a hand brake is 'inefficient' within the meaning of the Safety Appliance Act. The court quoted with approval from *Didinger v. Pennsylvania R. Co.*, 6 Cir., 39 F. 2d 798, 799, as follows:

“There are two recognized methods of showing the inefficiency of hand brake equipment. Evidence may be adduced to establish some particular defect, or the same inefficiency may be established by showing a failure to function, when operated with due care, in the normal, natural, and usual manner.’”

No logical reason can be assigned for refusing to adopt the same method for determining whether the carrier has complied with the section specifying the type of couplers which must be furnished.

There was, as has been pointed out, no evidence whatever of any mechanical defect in the coupling device on either car. There was likewise no evidence whatever of any failure of the couplers to function when subjected to a fair test. On the contrary they functioned perfectly on the occasion in question and thereafter when repeatedly tested. The plaintiff's testimony that he thought the drawbar was out of line has no probative value whatever. The controlling inquiry is whether the equipment was sufficient or insufficient—not what the plaintiff thought about it. Nothing short of a fair test could establish its insufficiency. Such a test was given and conclusively demonstrated the sufficiency of the entire coupling mechanism.

It is extremely difficult to read the plaintiff's version of how the accident occurred and escape the conviction that the plaintiff was between the cars attempting to adjust the knuckles and not to align the drawbar. Of course he testified that the knuckles were open but that is contrary to the admitted fact that his foot was inside the knuckle

and that he was pushing against the knuckle at the instant of impact. His description of hopping along on one foot to align the drawbar is fantastic. His statement that he signalled the engineer to stop was flatly contradicted. His story that he was aligning the drawbar is demonstrated by the facts and circumstances of the accident to be a fiction. In any event, there was no evidence that the rocker mechanism had failed to align the drawbar sufficiently to effect a coupling upon impact, and the court erred in denying the defendant's motion for a directed verdict.

## II.

### THE COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY AS SET FORTH IN INSTRUCTIONS NOS. 3 AND 4.

Instruction No. 3 reads in part as follows:

“If you find from a preponderance of the evidence that on the occasion when plaintiff was injured the couplers on the two cars would not have coupled automatically upon impact without the necessity of plaintiff going between the cars, then the defendant is guilty of a violation of the Safety Appliance Act, and if such violation proximately caused, in whole or in part, injuries to plaintiff, then you should return a verdict in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant and award to plaintiff damages as in these instructions set forth.”

The fundamental vice in this instruction is that it makes the liability of the defendant turn upon a theoretical function and the conduct of the plaintiff.

The statute, however, deals solely with mechanical equipment. The reference in the statute to function and to human conduct is merely descriptive of the type of equipment required and the place where the equipment is to be attached to the cars. It is error to assert that this statute requires coupling devices that will operate without manipulation by human hands. The limit of the requirement of the statute is that those parts of the coupling equipment that require manpower to operate shall be so attached to the cars so as to permit operation from a position outside the cars. It is true, of course, that the statute requires the mechanism to perform a certain function but it does not require that the equipment shall perform this function without the intervention of any human manipulation. No coupling device has been invented which will function automatically unless the knuckles are properly set. Yet it is universally held that the carrier meets the requirement of the statute when the cars are equipped with levers attached to the outside of the car by means of which the employee can open the knuckles. The most recent announcement of this proposition was made by the Supreme Court of the United States in *Affolder v. New York, Chicago and St. Louis R. R. Co.*, 339 U. S. 96, 94 L. Ed. 683, 70 S. Ct. 509.

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