1951

# Will J. McGowan v. The Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A

FINDING THAT THE COUPLERS DID NOT MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE SAFETY APPLIANCE ACT RELATING TO COUPLERS.

We are unable to understand the contention of defendant under its Point I. The purport of the point as stated in its brief would lead one to believe that its contention is that a directed verdict in favor of the defendant should have been granted. However, in its brief on page 7 the defendant states that it does not contend that the trial court erred in refusing to grant the defendant's motion for a directed verdict because of the absence of a mechanical defect in the couplers or because of a failure of proof of negligence on the part of the defendant in maintaining the couplers in a good state of repair. If no such contention is made, then a directed verdict would not have been in order and the sufficiency of the evidence would become established by admission of the defendant.

Defendant does contend, however, that there is no evidence tending to prove that the cars involved were not equipped with couplers that would couple automatically on impact or that there was any necessity for plaintiff to go between the cars in order to effect the coupling on this occasion. Plaintiff's contention in the trial of this case was that the drawbar of the moving coal car was so far out of line that it was necessary for an adjustment to be made in order to effect the coupling and there was no device or attachment whereby the plaintiff could make the necessary adjustment without going between the ends of the cars. Defendant's

own witness, Thomas McCoy, established that there was no attachment or device which could be used to accomplish a lateral adjustment of the drawbar and that it would be necessary for a brakeman to put some part of his body between the cars in order to accomplish the adjustment (110, 111):

“Q. Now there is nothing, if that coupler and the drawbar get off center, there is no mechanism there that you could stand outside from between the cars and adjust the drawbar, is there?

“A. No sir.

\* \* \* \* \*

“Q. And he would have to step in between the cars, wouldn't he? Isn't that right?

\* \* \* \* \*

“A. He would have to get a part of his body in there.

“Q. In order to make that adjustment to that drawbar?

“A. Yes sir.”

It was also conceded by this witness that these drawbars because of wear and rust and other factors come out of line and remain out of line so that they cannot be coupled without some adjustment (111, 112):

“Q. Now these various coupler mechanisms because of various differences in wear, a different amount of rust, and other things of that kind, they vary, do they not in connection with the movement of the rocker, or the movement of the coupler drawbar itself?

“A. Yes, they could.

"Q. And the ease with which they may be moved differs as among couplers?

"A. Yes sir.

"Q. Some are hard to move and some are easier?

"A. Yes sir.

"Q. And some will stay over farther than an inch, will they not?

"A. Some will, yes.

"Q. And it depends upon the wear and the amount of rust or dirt that is in these working parts?

"A. And the type of carrier arm would have a lot to do with it.

"Q. And the type of carrier arm?

"A. Yes.

"Q. And it isn't your testimony that these drawbars can't get far enough out of line so they won't couple?

"A. Well, I don't know about that. I saw them when they were coupled and we uncoupled them and coupled them back together and they coupled.

"Q. Well, you have seen cars that wouldn't couple when the drawbar was out of line, haven't you?

"A. Yes sir.

"Q. And that happens frequently?

"A. Well, I wouldn't say with what frequency.

"Q. But you have seen it a number of times, isn't that right?

"A. Yes sir."

One of the first cases construing the Safety Appliance Act relating to couplers specifically held that Act placed an absolute duty upon the carrier to furnish cars

with coupling devices which could be coupled together without the necessity of men going between the cars for the purpose of coupling. That case was *Johnson v. Southern Pacific Company*, 196 U.S. 1, 25 S. Ct. 158, 162, the court there stated:

“Tested by these principles, we think the view of the circuit court of appeals, which limits the 2d section to merely providing automatic couplers, does not give due effect to the words ‘coupling automatically by impact, and which can be uncoupled without the necessity of men going between the cars,’ and cannot be sustained.

“We dismiss, as without merit, the suggestion which has been made, that the words ‘without the necessity of men going between the ends of the cars,’ which are the test of compliance with section 2, apply only to the act of uncoupling. The phrase literally covers both coupling and uncoupling; and if read, as it should be, with a comma after the word ‘uncoupled,’ this becomes entirely clear. *Chicago, M. & St. P. R. Co. v. Voelker*, 129 Fed. 522; *United States v. Lacher*, 134 U.S. 624, 33 L. ed. 1080, 10 Sup. Ct. Rep. 625.”

The court also expressed the underlying reason for the passage of the Safety Appliance Act as follows, page 161:

“Nevertheless, the circuit court of appeals was of opinion that it would be an unwarrantable extension of the terms of the law to hold that where the couplers would couple automatically with couplers of their own kind, the couplers must so couple with couplers of different kinds. But we think that what the act plainly forbade

was the use of cars which could not be coupled together automatically by impact, by means of the couplers actually used on the cars to be coupled. The object was to protect the lives and limbs of railroad employees by rendering it unnecessary for a man operating the couplers to go between the ends of the cars; and that object would be defeated, not necessarily by the use of automatic couplers of different kinds, but if those different kinds would not automatically couple with each other. The point was that the railroad companies should be compelled, respectively, to adopt devices, whatever they were, which would act so far uniformly as to eliminate the danger consequent on men going between the cars."

In recent decisions of the Supreme Court of the United States it has been held that the act is violated where the couplers do not or will not couple on impact without the necessity of men going between the cars. In *O'Donnell v. Elgin, J. & E. Ry. Co.*, 338 U.S. 384, 70 S. Ct. 200, 206, the Supreme Court related the historic development of the law under the Safety Appliance Act and pointed out that courts did not readily accept the simple proposition contained in the Act. The court held the Act places an absolute duty upon the carrier to furnish a coupler which will, under all conditions, automatically couple by impact without the necessity of men going between the cars. Any time the coupler fails to so operate a violation of the Act has occurred and this regardless of any contention that too much was demanded of the coupler mechanism or by showing that the coupler had been properly manufactured, diligently inspected and showed no visible defects. The court stated:



“\* \* \* These circumstances do go to the question of negligence; but, even if a railroad should explain away its negligence, that is not enough to explain away its liability if it has violated the Act.”

The court in this case was discussing instructions and the final statement of the court adequately expresses its holding:

“\* \* \* As to the claim based on the Safety Appliance Act, we hold that the plaintiff was entitled to a peremptory instruction that to equip a car with a coupler which broke in the switching operation was a violation of the Act, which rendered defendant liable for injuries proximately resulting therefrom, and that neither evidence of negligence nor of diligence and care was to be considered on the question of this liability.”

One of the earlier Supreme Court cases is analogous to the present case. In *San Antonio & Aransas Pass Railway Company v. Wagner*, 241 U.S. 476, 36 S. Ct. 626, 627, 60 L. Ed. 1110, a judgment in favor of plaintiff in an F.E.L.A. case was affirmed. The evidence tended to show that plaintiff was engaged in switching in defendant's yard and was riding upon the footboard at the rear of an engine in order to make a coupling between it and a boxcar. The engine was backing. At the first impact the coupling did not make. Plaintiff then signaled the engineer to move forward and then gave him a backup signal. The plaintiff mounted the footboard of the engine. He looked down and saw that the drawhead on the engine had shifted over to the side.

He reached up with his left foot to shift the drawhead over so it would couple. His right foot slipped on the wet footboard and his left foot was caught between the drawheads and crushed. The trial court instructed the jury that if the locomotive and car in question were not equipped with couplers coupling automatically by impact without the necessity of plaintiff going between the ends of the cars and by reason of this and as a proximate result of it plaintiff received his injuries, the verdict should be in his favor. The contentions made by the defendant there are almost identical with those made by the defendant here. The court expressed them as follows:

“\* \* \* They set up that defendant was a common carrier engaged in interstate commerce, and invoked the provisions of the Federal safety appliance act \* \* \*, averring that all couplers attached to railroad engines, tenders, or cars must have sufficient lateral motion to permit trains to round the curves, and must be provided with adjustable knuckles which can be opened and closed, and such couplers must be adjusted at times in order that they may couple automatically by impact, and that there is no kind of automatic coupler constructed or that can be constructed which will couple automatically at all times without previous adjustment, because of the lateral play necessary to enable coupled cars to round curves; that the engine and car upon which plaintiff was employed at the time of his injury were engaged in interstate commerce, and were equipped with automatic couplers which would couple automatically by impact as required by the acts of Congress, but an adjustment was necessary for this purpose, and could have been made by the

plaintiff going between the cars while they were standing, but without going between the ends of the cars while in motion, or between a moving engine and cars, and without kicking the coupling or in any manner endangering his own personal safety; with more to the same effect."

The court in ruling for plaintiff stated in part as follows:

"It is insisted that neither the original act nor the amendment precludes adjustment of the coupler prior to or at the time of impact, or treats a drawbar out of alignment as a defect in the automatic coupler, or as evidence that the cars are not equipped with couplers measuring up to the statutory standard. The evidence of bad repair in the automatic equipment was not confined to the fact that the drawbar on the engine was out of line; the fact that the coupling pin on the box car failed to drop as it should have done at the first impact, and required manipulation in preparation for the second impact, together with the fact that the drawbar on the engine was so far out of line as to require adjustment in preparation for the second impact, and the opinion evidence, being sufficient to sustain a finding that the equipment was defective. *The jury could reasonably find that the misalignment of the drawbar was greater than required to permit the rounding of curves, or, if not, that an adjusting lever should have been provided upon the engine as upon the car, and that there was none upon the engine.*"

In *Chicago, St. P., M. and O. Ry. Co. v. Muldowney*, 130 F. 2d 971, 975 (cert. den. 317 U.S. 700), a situation

was presented in which plaintiff's decedent apparently attempted to adjust a drawbar which was out of line. There were no eyewitnesses to the occurrence of the decedent being caught between the couplers. In the switching operation involved a locomotive tender was to be coupled to a standing car. Decedent was standing on one of the steps on the rear of the tender. When the engine had reached a point about three car lengths from the standing car the engine power was shut off and it drifted gradually toward this car. A yardmaster standing near by, thinking it was about time for the engineer to slack ahead, turned around and observed decedent's lantern laying between the cars in the middle of the track. Decedent was between the coupler of the locomotive and the coupler of the standing car. The engine was moved ahead. Decedent was extricated and taken to the hospital where he died without recovering consciousness. After his removal the crew attempted to proceed with the switching operation. The engine backed up to contact the coupler on the standing car but the coupling did not make. The drawbars on the switch engine and the standing car were out of alignment to such an extent that a coupling could not be made without an adjustment of the drawbars. After the adjustment was made the cars coupled automatically. The court pointed out that it was the duty of decedent to see that the cars were properly coupled and if there was an adjustment to be made in the drawbars it was his duty to make it. An expert testified that the presence of a man's body between the two drawbars could not have forced them out of line.

The court held that by virtue of this testimony the jury could have found that the coupling would not have made because of the drawbars being out of line and that decedent was performing his duties in attempting to make the adjustment at the time of his injury. The court in discussing the testimony stated as follows:

“\* \* \* It must be borne in mind that Muldowney at the time of the accident was engaged in an attempt to make this coupling. He was not, as suggested, proceeding to cross the track between the engine and the Swift car for the purpose of going to the yard house. There is no evidence that that was his purpose and to have done so would have been a desertion of his post in the midst of an important movement in which he was performing an essential part. His activities, we have a right to assume, centered around the successful completion of his undertaking. If the drawbars were out of alignment to the extent that the coupling could not be made automatically on impact, that condition could only be cured by adjusting in some way these drawbars and that involved some movement of them. This could not be effected by the hand lever, and if the condition existed it was the duty of Muldowney not only to detect it but to remedy it. Assuming for the moment that this condition existed, the jury might well have concluded not only that he observed the condition but that he was in the act of attempting to remedy it. In doing so it was necessary for him to pass between the ends of the cars. If the assumed condition existed, the only good faith effort he could have made to couple necessitated an adjustment of the drawbar. Any attempt to

make the coupling without such adjustment would be futile."

In the *Muldowney* case it was necessary for the plaintiff to rely upon testimony that after the attempted coupling was made the drawbars were out of alignment to such an extent that a coupling could not be effected. In the case at bar the plaintiff was in a position where he could see and observe the position of the couplers and testified that the drawbar was sufficiently out of line on the coal car that a coupling could not be effected without adjustment of the drawbar. The position of plaintiff and the decedent in the *Muldowney* case were the same in that both were attempting to make an adjustment of the drawbar in order to effect a coupling. Plaintiff definitely testified in the case at bar that the drawbar was out of line and was moved sufficiently to permit the coupling to take place. We submit that this case is authority for the proposition that where drawbars are out of alignment and it is necessary for the brakemen or switchmen to go between the cars to make the adjustment a violation of the Act has occurred and if it results in injury, the railroad company is liable under the Safety Appliance Act. Neither the Act nor the authorities require that an actual failure to couple is necessary to establish a violation.

Defendant asserts there is no evidence that the rocker device failed to perform its function. Under the evidence this rocker device was supposed to cause the drawbar to come back into line so that the cars would couple on impact. The drawbar in this case was not in

such a position and hence the device had not functioned as it should. Concededly this could happen and adjustment between the cars would then be necessary.

In *Atlantic City R. Co. v. Parker*, 242 U.S. 56, 37 S. Ct. 69, 61 L. Ed. 150, the drawbar was out of line and plaintiff put his arm between the cars to adjust. In holding for plaintiff the court stated:

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